THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable J. C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No 2009-CP-10-7399
Appellate Case No. 2014-002118

RECEIVED

MAY 04 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Lynne Vicary, Kent Prause, and South Carolina Coastal
Conservation League,

Respondents,

v.

Town of Awendaw, and EBC, LLC
Of whom Town of Awendaw is the Appellant.....

Defendants

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
Newman Jackson Smith
SC Bar No. 005245
E-Mail: jack.smith@nelsonmullins.com
151 Meeting Street / Sixth Floor
Post Office Box 1806 (29402-1806)
Charleston, SC 29401-2239
(843) 853-5200

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW IN FINDING THAT THE RESPONDENTS HAVE STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE ANNEXATION ORDINANCE?
- II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO PETITION FOR THE 2004 ANNEXATION?
- III. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT APPELLANT FALSELY CLAIMED THAT IT HAD A PROPER PETITION TO ANNEX THE US FOREST SERVICE PROPERTY?
- IV. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW IN FINDING THAT THE TOWN IS ESTOPPED FROM ASSERTING A STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS DEFENSE?
- V. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW IN FINDING THAT THE STATUTORY TIME PERIOD FOR CHALLENGING THE 2004 ANNEXATION WAS TOLLED?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case began with a Complaint for declaratory judgment and injunctive relief brought by Lynne Vicary, Kent Prause, and South Carolina Coastal Conservation League (“Respondents”), against defendants Town of Awendaw (the “Town”) and EBC, LLC d/b/a/ EBCSC, LLC (“EBC”), of whom the Town is the Appellant, on November 25, 2009 seeking to invalidate the October 1, 2009 Ordinances approved by Appellant that rezoned a parcel of land known as part of the Nebo Tract in Charleston County, South Carolina, authorized a development agreement for the Nebo Tract, and amended Appellant’s Comprehensive Plan regarding the Nebo Tract. The First and Second Amended Complaints sought to also invalidate the annexation of the Nebo Tract through a challenge of the annexation of US Forest Service land and Mount Nebo Church¹ property more than five (5) years prior to the Nebo Tract annexation R. 29.

The circuit court’s order of July 24, 2014 (the “Final Order,” R. 14) found that, based on Respondents’ allegations of certain intentional misconduct and illegal action by the Appellant, Respondents acquired taxpayer standing and the public importance exception from the constitutional standing requirements to pursue the challenge of the 2004 annexations by the Appellant of a 10-foot strip of United States Forest Service property and the property of the Mount Nebo Church, and the 2009 ordinances of Appellant that annexed the Nebo Tract and approved a Comprehensive Plan amendment, rezoning, and a development agreement for the Nebo Tract. The circuit

¹ Mount Nebo Church has not been made a party to this action. Its property was annexed with the ten (10’) foot strip of Forest Service property in 2004, and is contiguous to the Nebo Tract. If upheld, the circuit court’s ruling will remove the Church property from the Town.

court also ruled that the statute of limitations for challenging the 2004 Annexation Ordinances was tolled and that Appellant was estopped from asserting the statute of limitations defense based on Respondents' allegations of certain fraudulent representations by Appellant regarding the annexation petition utilized in conjunction with the 2004 annexation of the Forest Service property ("1994 Petition").

The trial court reviewed Respondents' claim against the 2004 annexation of the ten (10') foot strip of Forest Service property, finding that because Appellant had not received a petition that meets the substantive requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 5-3-150 (3) as construed by the court, that the annexation was *void ab initio*, that the annexation of the Nebo Tract failed because the invalidation of the 2004 Forest Service and Nebo Church annexation deprived the Nebo Tract of the required contiguity, and that the ordinances concerning the development agreement, rezoning and Comprehensive Plan for Nebo Tract were each *ultra vires* acts and *void ab initio* because the Nebo Tract annexation did not occur as a matter of law.

Following is the procedural history of the case, which was heard before the lower court without a jury

A Notice of the Intention to Contest Extension of the Town was filed by Respondents on November 25, 2009. The Summons and Complaint was filed on November 25, 2009 for declaratory judgment and injunctive relief alleging non-compliance with the Local Development Agreement Act, violation of the procedures for amendment of the Town Comprehensive Plan, and arbitrary rezoning. A First Amended Complaint was filed on December 22, 2009 for declaratory judgment and injunctive relief alleging the Nebo Tract annexation was void for various reasons, non-

compliance with the Local Development Agreement Act, violation of the procedures for amendment of the Town Comprehensive Plan, and arbitrary rezoning.

Appellant Answered the First Amended Complaint on January 22, 2010 raising eleven (11) affirmative defenses. (R. 54.) Respondents filed a Second Amended Complaint on April 23, 2010 for declaratory judgment and injunctive relief alleging the Nebo Tract annexation was void for various reasons, non-compliance with the Local Development Agreement Act, violation of the procedures for amendment of the Town Comprehensive Plan, and arbitrary rezoning. (R. 29.) Appellant answered the Second Amended Complaint on May 21, 2010 incorporating its answer to the First Amended Complaint and answering only the revised paragraphs of the Complaint. (R. 67)

Defendant EBC and Appellant filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on December 22, 2010. Respondent filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on March 11, 2011. Defendant EBC's and Appellant's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was denied on April 19, 2011. (R. 1.) An Order denying Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration was entered on July 19, 2011. An Order denying Respondent's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was filed on September 17, 2013.

Appellant's Notice of Appeal of the denial of its Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was filed with the Court of Appeals on July 29, 2011. An Order remitting the case from the Court to the lower court was entered on July 10, 2012, which Order included denial of Appellant's Petition for Re-Hearing. (R. 10.)

A Stipulation for Dismissal and Settlement Agreement as to Defendant EBC was filed September 6, 2012². (R. 354.) A non-jury trial was held April 16, 2014. (R. 71.) The Final Order was issued on July 24 and filed on July 28, 2014. (R. 14.)

Appellant filed a Motion for Reconsideration on August 6, 2014. An Order denying Appellant's Motion for reconsideration was entered on September 22, 2014. (R. 27.)

A Consent Order for Substitution of Appellant's Counsel was filed on September 23, 2014, and issued by the lower court on October 16, 2014.

The Notice of Appeal was filed and served on October 1, 2014.

² Because Defendant EBC and Respondents voluntarily settled their claims and counterclaims, EBC was dismissed from the case below. Stipulation of Dismissal. Therefor the Statement of the Case procedural history does not include the EBC pleadings related to its defense and counterclaims.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN FINDING THAT THE RESPONDENTS HAVE STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE ANNEXATION ORDINANCE.

A. Standard of Review.

Depending on the nature of the underlying controversy, a declaratory judgment suit is either equitable or legal in nature. See, e.g., Ballenger v. City of Inman, 336 S.C. 126, 130, 518 S.E.2d 824, 826-7 (Ct. App. 1999) (internal citation omitted). The Respondents challenge the validity of Appellant's ordinances to annex property, to rezone it and to approve a development agreement. The remedy sought by the Respondents, the invalidation of the ordinances adopted by the Town, sounds in equity. See, e.g., Myers v. Patterson, 315 S.C. 248, 251, 433 S.E.2d 841, 843 (1993) (a suit to restrain public officers from taking actions unauthorized by law sounds in equity), Bethel M. E. Church v. City of Greenville, 211 S.C. 442, 444-5, 45 S.E.2d 841, 842 (1947) (a suit to declare void a resolution by city council to vacate a portion of a street is a suit in equity). In an action at equity tried by a judge without a jury, an appellate court may reverse the circuit court's findings of facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. Lambries v. Saluda County Council, 409 S.C. 1, 8, 760 S.E.2d 785, 788 (2014) (internal citation omitted). Additionally, as Respondents' basis for seeking to void the ordinances involves the interpretation of a statute, an appellate court will review that question of law *de novo*. Id.

Moreover, a municipal ordinance is valid and upon review should be upheld if the municipality had the "power to enact the local ordinance" and if the ordinance is "consistent with the Constitution and general law of the State." Aakjer v. City of

Myrtle Beach, 388 S.C. 129, 133, 694 S.E.2d 213, 215 (2010) (internal citation omitted); Denene, Inc. v. City of Charleston, 352 S.C. 208, 212, 574 S.E.2d 196, 197 (2002) (internal citation omitted). Our Supreme Court precedent has been long established that a municipal annexation can be deemed “void” only where the specific provision of Title V, Chapter 3 of the South Carolina Code of Laws authorizing the annexation is unlawful. St. Andrews Pub. Serv. Distr. v. City Council of Charleston, 349 S.C. 602, 605, 564 S.E.2d 647, 648 (2002) (citing Quinn v. City of Columbia, 303 S.C. 405, 401 S.E.2d 165 (1991) (overruled in other part in St. Andrews). See also Beaufort County v. Trask, 349 S.C. 522, 527-8, 563 S.E.2d 660, 663 (Ct. App. 2002). The circuit court erred as a matter of law in finding that the 2004 and 2009 Annexations are *void ab initio* because neither Respondents nor the circuit court claimed that the annexation procedure established in S.C. Code Ann. § 5-3-150 (3) is unlawful in any part.

Where the 2004 Annexation ordinance is complete and unambiguous on its face, Tr. Pl. Ex. No. 8 pp 3-4 (Apr. 16, 2014, R. 187), the circuit court cannot as a matter of law consider extrinsic or parol evidence to contradict it, and it erred as a matter of law in relying entirely on parol evidence to invalidate it, Final Order pp. 3, 4, 7, 8, 10-12. (R. 16, 17, 20, 21, 23-24.) Horry Tel. Coop., Inc. v. City of Georgetown, 408 S.C. 348, 354, 759 S.E.2d 132, 135 (2014) (“[m]unicipal records properly authenticated or verified are the only competent evidence of the proceedings of the transactions of governing bodies” (quoting Berkeley Elec. Coop., Inc. v. Town of Mount Pleasant, 308 S.C. 205, 208, 417 S.E.2d 579, 581 (1992))) South Carolina precedent holds that an objection to parol evidence can be first raised on appeal because

its admission is prohibited by a rule of substantive law, not merely by a rule of evidence. Muckelvaney v Liberty Life Ins. Co., 261 S C 63, 198 S E.2d 278 (1973); In re Estate of Holden, 343 S C. 267, 539 S.E.2d 703, (2000). See II B., *infra*.

B. Respondents Have No Statutory Standing and the Only Non-Statutory Party Which May Challenge a Municipal Annexation is the State of South Carolina Acting in Public Interest to Challenge an "Absolutely Void" Annexation Ordinance.

Respondents neither claim nor establish statutory standing to challenge the 2009 Nebo Tract Annexation or the bootstrapped challenge of the 2004 Annexation. Under S.C. Code Ann. § 5-3-270 a plaintiff challenging an annexation must be a “person interested therein.” Under long standing precedent a statutory “challenger must assert an infringement of its own proprietary interests or statutory rights.” St. Andrews Pub. Serv. Distr v. City Council of Charleston, 349 S.C 602, 604, 564 S.E.2d 647, 648 (2002) (citing State by State Budget & Control Bd. v. City of Columbia, 308 S C 487, 489, 419 S.E.2d 229, 230 (1992)). Respondents have not alleged or shown any infringement of their own proprietary interests or statutory rights arising out of any annexation ordinances, and therefore do not have statutory standing under S.C Code Ann. § 5-3-270 to challenge any of them. Respondents cannot acquire statutory standing based solely on the South Carolina Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, and the circuit court should have “reject[ed] any averment” by Respondents that the “proceeding under the Declaratory Judgment Act has any impact on [the] standing analysis.” Bodman v. State, 403 S.C. 60, 67 n1, 742 S.E.2d 363, 366 n1 (2013); see also County of Lexington, S.C v. City of Columbia, 303 S.C. 300, 301 400 S E.2d

146, 147 (1991) (a plaintiff cannot acquire statutory standing merely by pursuing a statutory declaratory judgment).³

Where the circuit court found that Respondents are entitled to pursue their challenges against the 2009 Nebo Tract Annexation and the 2004 Annexation based on taxpayer standing and the public importance exception from the general standing requirements, Final Order pp. 6 & 8, it violated the bright-line precedent of a three-prong test perfected by the South Carolina Supreme Court in a trilogy of rulings, prescribing that the only non-statutory party which may challenge any municipal annexation is the State of South Carolina when acting in public interest to challenge an annexation ordinance that is absolutely void. (R. 19, 21.) St. Andrews Pub. Serv. Distr. v. City Council of City of Charleston, 349 S.C. 602, 605, 564 S.E.2d 647, 648 (2002); State ex rel. Condon v. City of Columbia, 339 S.C. 8, 14, 528 S.E.2d 408, 411 (2000); Quinn v. City of Columbia, 303 S.C. 405, 407, 401 S.E.2d 165, 166-7 (S.C. 1991) (overruled in part in St. Andrews)⁴.

³ Respondents neither claim nor establish statutory standing to challenge the 2009 or 2004 annexations under the applicable standard. Moreover, Respondents neither claim nor establish statutory standing: under S.C. Code Ann § 6-29-760 (C), granting standing to an “owner of adjoining land or his representative” to challenge the 2009 Nebo Tract Rezoning; under Chapter 29 of Title 6 of the South Carolina Code of Laws to challenge municipal ordinances to adopt or amend the Comprehensive Plan; or under Chapter 31 of Title 6 of the South Carolina Code of Laws to challenge the 2009 Nebo Tract Development Agreement

⁴ Appellant argued correctly to the circuit court that the applicable law on standing in such annexation cases is primarily the St. Andrews case in its brief in support of its Motion for Directed Verdict on Standing, Court's Tr. Exh. 1. (R. at 259.) However, the circuit court summarily dismissed those defenses in a footnote, Order pp. 2,3, and determined that Respondents had standing without any reference whatsoever to this controlling jurisprudence. (R. at 15-16.) Nowhere in its Final Order did the circuit court explain why the controlling precedent of the St. Andrews case would not apply in this case.

In St. Andrews the Court firmly closed the door to private parties who claim non-statutory standing (such as taxpayer standing) or the public importance exception to challenge municipal annexations: “We now overrule Quinn, and *hold* that the *only non-statutory party which may challenge a municipal annexation is the State*, through a quo warranto action. In our view, the better policy is to limit ‘outsider’ annexation challenges to those brought by the State ‘acting in the public interest.’” Id. at 605, 564 S.E.2d at 648 (overruling, in part, Quinn v. City of Columbia, 303 S.C. 405, 401 S.E.2d 165 (1991)) (emphases added). That the State of South Carolina can invoke the public importance exception as a non-statutory party in a quo warranto action was previously acknowledged in State ex rel. Condon v City of Columbia, 339 S.C. at 14, 528 S.E.2d at 411, and that an annexation ordinance cannot be deemed “absolutely void” unless the specific annexation enabling provision of Title V, Chapter 3 of the South Carolina Code of Laws is found to be unlawful, in Quinn v. City of Columbia, 303 S.C. at 407, 401 S.E.2d at 166-7. During the decade following St. Andrews, there have been only two reported annexation cases, of which State ex rel. Wilson v. Town of Yemassee, 391 S.C. 565, 707 S.E.2d 402 (2011) emphasized the need for strict adherence to the narrowly defined public importance exception from the general standing rules.⁵ Id. at 572-4, 707 S.E.2d 402 at 406-7.

Because Respondents fail to meet the first prong of the St. Andrews test—none of them is the State of South Carolina—they are unambiguously prohibited from pursuing their annexation claims under the exclusive standing framework established in

⁵ The other case, Town of Summerville v. City of North Charleston, 378 S.C. 107, 662 S.E.2d 40 (2008) examined an annexation pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 5-3-150 (1) which includes broader statutory standing provisions than § 5-3-150 (3) utilized by Appellant here.

St. Andrews over a decade ago. Instead, Respondents argue and the court found that the Quinn door closed in St. Andrews should be re-opened to these non-statutory, private-party plaintiffs whose claims it found to be distinguished from St. Andrews and from Town of Yemassee on the basis that the claim against the 2004 Annexation was intentionally deceitful conduct by Appellant. Order, p. 5-7. (R. 18-19.)

C. The Public Importance Exception from the Standing Requirements is not Applicable.

An exception from the statutory and Constitutional standing requirements based on particularized injury may be granted to a plaintiff where the issue raised is of such public importance that its resolution is needed for future guidance. Freemantle v. Preston, 398 S.C. 186, 193-4, 728 S.E.2d 40, 44 (2012) (citing ATC South, Inc. v. Charleston County, 380 S.C. 191, 199, 669 S.E.2d 337, 341 (2008)(internal citations omitted) In Freemantle, our Supreme Court South articulated a strict two-prong test for evaluating the “need for future guidance” which does not exist independently of the plaintiff’s (1) “need for” and (2) “entitlement to” injunctive relief. Id. at 194, 728 S.E.2d at 44. Freemantle also prohibits Respondents from achieving the public importance exception based on their allegations of municipal fraud. Id. 398 S.C. at 191 & 193-4, 728 S.E.2d at 43-44 (ruling that claims of collusion, breach of fiduciary duties, illegal gift of county funds, misfeasance, malfeasance, conspiracy, violations of public policy, and of violations of the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act by a resident taxpayer challenging a county’s expenditure of public funds did not “warrant invocation of the public importance exception”)

Instead of the applicable test, the circuit court improperly relied upon a standing framework previously utilized in procurement and taxpayer cases where a private party could acquire standing to challenge allegedly illegal governmental acts, Sloan v. Greenville County, 356 S.C. 531, 590 S.E.2d 338 (Ct. App. 2003); Sloan v. School Dist. of Greenville County, 342 S.C. 515, 537 S.E.2d 299 (Ct. App. 2000), which framework has been superseded by Freemantle and is not applicable to annexation claims in the first place as the only the State of South Carolina is authorized by St. Andrews to pursue a non-statutory public interest claim. The circuit court erred as a matter of law where it found, persuaded by Respondents' allegations of "municipal deception", "intentional bad faith", "intentional deceit," "unclean hands" and "misrepresentation" by Appellant, Final Order at 5, 7, 10, that Respondents are entitled to the public importance exception to pursue their challenge of the 2004 and 2009 annexations, where Respondents neither pleaded nor established either prong of the Freemantle test, and where Freemantle prohibits the invocation of the public importance exception based on Respondents' allegations of municipal deception. (R. 18; 20, 23.)

The circuit court erred by finding that "future guidance" is needed to "protect unique flora and fauna contained in the National Forest which is owned, maintained, and conserved for the benefit of all Americans," and that such guidance can be achieved by resolving "whether the Town's practice of expanding its municipal limits into the National Forest is *ultra vires*", Final Order at 8—9, where Respondents have failed to prove any injury to the National Forest arising out of the 2009 or 2004

Annexations⁶ (R. 22-23.) The Nebo Tract is not part of the National Forest, and the ten (10') foot strip of Forest Service land cannot be developed. There is no "entitlement to" injunctive relief based on the facts presented below. Moreover, no "future guidance" is needed to resolve a "recurring controversy likely to continue resurfacing in the future" against the Town's use of the 1994 Petition because Respondents cannot point to any South Carolina legal authority that prohibits the use of the 1994 Petition under S.C. Code Ann. § 5-3-150 (3) or that constrains a municipality from working with landowners to reach agreement and consensus on an annexation of their property under that section.

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