THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J. C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2009-CP-10-7399
Appellate Case No. 2014-002118

Lynne Vicary, Kent Prause, and South
Carolina Coastal Conservation League..... Respondents,

v.

Town of Awendaw, and EBC, LLC..... Defendants,
Of Whom Town of Awendaw is Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

W. Jefferson Leath, Jr., Esq.
Leath, Bouch & Seekings, LLP
92 Broad Street
P.O. Box 59
Charleston, SC 29402
(843) 937-8811

Christopher K. DeScherer, Esq.
Southern Environmental Law Center
463 King Street, Suite B
Charleston, SC 29403
(843) 720-5270

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

(Deposition of Kent Prause (Sept. 27, 2010) (hereinafter “Prause Dep.”) at 50:5-18, explaining how the extent of growth and development threatens to impact the natural resources he enjoys, such as the National Forest).⁸

Moreover, even if this Court were to find that *ATC* overruled the *Sloan* line of cases and that taxpayer standing no longer exists under South Carolina law, this Court should still uphold the trial court’s decision by reaffirming that Respondents qualify under the public importance exception for standing given the threat to the National Forest and the Town’s insistence that they will keep treating the 1994 Letter from the U S. Forest Service as a petition for annexation until a Court directs them to do otherwise.

II. The Town’s Argument that the Other Challenged Ordinances Relating to the Nebo Tract are Moot is Erroneous.

The Town asserts that the trial court did not review the merits of Respondents’ Amended Complaint regarding the ordinances (a) to approve the development agreement for the Nebo

⁸ The Town claims that these injuries are “hypothetical and unsubstantiated,” and that Respondents have failed to “demonstrate[] any injury to the National Forest.” Town Br. at 13. However, it is well-established that in cases involving harm to natural resources, it is not necessary to prove that the harm has already occurred, rather, “plaintiffs adequately allege injury in fact when they aver that they use the affected area and are persons for whom the aesthetic and recreational values of the area will be lessened by the challenged activity.” *Friends of the Earth, Inc v Laidlaw Envtl Servs (TOC), Inc*, 528 U S 167, 183 (2000) (internal citations omitted). See also *Ocean Advocates v U S Army Corps of Eng’rs*, 402 F 3d 846, 860 (9th Cir. 2005) (“an increased risk of harm can itself be injury in fact for standing, and nothing necessitates a showing of existing environmental harm .. [T]o require actual evidence of environmental harm, rather than an increased risk based on a violation of [a] statute, misunderstands the nature of environmental harm...” (internal citations and quotations omitted)); *Cent Delta Water Agency v US*, 306 F 3d 938, 950 (9th Cir. 2002) (“as the Fourth Circuit noted in *Gaston Copper*, plaintiffs need not wait until the natural resources are despoiled before challenging the government action leading to the potential destruction”). These injuries are caused by the illegal annexation of properties by the Town and the resulting change in zoning to allow for increased development density, which would harm the environment and the National Forest and would not occur but for the Town’s illegal actions. A ruling from this Court upholding the trial court’s order would redress Respondents’ injuries by maintaining the Nebo Tract within the jurisdictional limits of Charleston County and maintaining its rural density zoning.

Tract; (b) to amend the Town's Comprehensive Plan; and (c) to rezone the Nebo Tract, Town Br. at 15, and that these claims are now moot, *id.* at 15-16. This argument has no merit.

As explained by the trial court, the Town, like any other municipality in South Carolina, only has the powers granted to it by Article VIII of the South Carolina Constitution. ROA 0023 – 24 (Order at 10 – 11, citing *Hospitality Ass'n v. Cnty. of Charleston*, 320 S.C. 219, 225-26, 464 S.E.2d 113, 117-18 (1995)). Actions outside these powers are void and have no effect. ROA 0024 (Order at 11, citing *Bostick v. City of Beaufort*, 307 S.C. 347, 350, 415 S.E.2d 389, 391 (1992)). The Town lacks the authority to annex property unless it is contiguous with the Town's border and the Town receives a petition from the owner of the property requesting annexation. In order to annex the Nebo Tract, the Town tried to manufacture contiguity via the Ten-Foot Strip and the Nebo Church Tract. Because the annexation of the Ten-Foot Strip never occurred as a matter of law, there never was any contiguity between the Town and the Nebo Tract. Further, since the Nebo Tract is not within the Town's jurisdiction (and never has been), it is axiomatic that the Town lacked the authority to enact the ordinances identified above. The challenges to these ordinances are not moot. To the contrary, the trial court correctly held that these ordinances purportedly enacted by the Town on October 1, 2009 are each *ultra vires* and *void ab initio*. ROA 0025 – 26 (Order at 12 – 13).

III. The Trial Court Properly Concluded that there was No Petition for the 2004 Annexation and that the Town Engaged in Deceitful Conduct.

The Town next argues that the trial court committed legal error by imposing heightened requirements to determine if a proper petition for annexation was made here, and by relying on a 2011 letter from the Forest Service explaining that it never intended the 1994 Letter to be an annexation petition. Both of these arguments are flawed; the trial court properly determined that there was no petition requesting annexation as required by the plain language of § 5-3-150(3),

and its consideration of the 2011 letter to buttress this conclusion was proper. The trial court also properly concluded that the Town engaged in deceitful conduct and this Court should affirm that finding.

A. The Trial Court Did Not Impose Heightened Requirements in Determining That There was No Petition for Annexation Here.

The Town first argues that “[t]he circuit court erred as a matter of law by construing S.C. Code Ann. § 5-3-150(3) to include requirements for annexation petitions that conflict with the plain language of that section.” Town Br. at 16. The Town contends that “§ 5-3-150(3) does not mandate a particular form for a petition,” *id.*, and that the court “superimpos[ed] certain requirements that are expressly confined to § 5-3-150(1),” *id.* at 17.

Contrary to the Town’s argument, the trial court never referenced or applied the requirements for annexation petitions made pursuant to § 5-3-150(1). Instead, the trial court based its ruling on the plain language of § 5-3-150(3). *See* ROA 0024 (Order at 11). As the trial court explained, section § 5-3-150(3) requires a “petition ‘*requesting annexation*’”⁹ *Id.* (emphasis in original). The trial court concluded that “[i]t is undisputed that the Town never received anything from the Forest Service requesting annexation of the Ten-Foot Strip.” *Id.* In other words, the trial court did not hold that the petition failed to satisfy certain technical elements required for annexation petitions, but instead simply found that there was no legitimate petition for annexation at all. In the words of the trial court, “[t]he 1994 letter the town tried to

⁹ The Town contends that “[t]he ruling that a petition must be ‘requesting annexation’ to be complete, Final Order, p. 11, is not consistent with the plain language of or the Legislative intent for this section . . .” Town Br. at 18. This is a particularly bizarre argument given that the plain language of the statute uses this exact phrasing. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 5-3-150(3) (“[A]ny area or property which is contiguous to a municipality may be annexed to the municipality by filing with the municipal governing body a *petition* signed by all persons owning real estate in the area *requesting annexation*. Upon the agreement of the governing body to accept the petition and annex the area, and the enactment of an ordinance declaring the area annexed to the municipality, the annexation is complete.”) (emphases added).

use as a ‘petition’ is no such thing.” *Id* ; *see also id* (“As a matter of law, annexation of the Ten-Foot strip never occurred because it could not be accomplished without a petition.”), ROA 0016 (Order at 3, saying that the 1994 Letter is “a decade-old letter...stating that the agency had ‘no objection’ to the annexation of ambiguously-described properties” that the Town decided to use after it could not obtain a petition requesting annexation).

The Town takes issue with the trial court’s reference to expert testimony from Mr Robert Lee Frank, a land surveyor, explaining that the 1994 Letter does not contain an adequate description of the land for purposes of annexation. *See* Town Br. at 17, n. 8. The Town argues that by referring to this testimony, the court imposed stricter requirements for annexation petitions than those found in § 5-3-150(3). While the trial court did reference Mr. Frank’s testimony, this reference was in addition to its main holding that there was never a petition requesting annexation as required by § 5-3-150(3). In any case, Mr. Frank’s testimony further supports the court’s conclusion that the 1994 Letter was not an annexation request because it did not properly identify the land to be annexed. It is common sense that any annexation petition – not just those provided for in §§ 5-3-150 (1) and (2) – must define the property to be annexed so that it is identifiable. In sum, the court’s holding that there was no petition requesting annexation – which properly applies S.C. Code Ann § 5-3-150(3) to the facts here and does not impose any heightened requirement for annexation petitions – should be affirmed.

B. The Trial Court Properly Considered the 2011 Forest Service Letter.

The Town next argues that Respondents should not be allowed to introduce the 2011 U.S Forest Service letter explaining that the Forest Service never intended for its 1994 Letter to constitute a petition to annex National Forest lands. The Town argues that this is impermissible

parol evidence because it is “proof of intent by a different person years after the clear understanding of it between the parties.” Town Br. at 19.

This argument lacks merit for several reasons. First, the 2011 letter is not parol evidence because it is not being used to demonstrate the original intent of the parties in a contract dispute. Rather, this case concerns the propriety of the Town’s purported annexation of National Forest lands and seeks equitable relief. On these facts, the parol evidence rule is inapplicable. *See Wells Fargo Bank Minn , Nat’l Ass’n v Luther*, No. 2005-UP-123, 2005 WL 7083446 at *4, n. 3 (S.C. Ct. App Feb. 17, 2005) (“[T]he parol evidence rule only applies to the construction of written agreements... In this case, we are not construing a written agreement, but determining the extent of an equitable mortgage and fashioning a remedy in equity. Thus, we are not bound by the parol evidence rule.”) (internal citation omitted). Second, even if the 2011 letter is considered parol evidence, it is admissible to establish allegations of fraud in the execution or inducement of a written contract. *See U S Leasing Corp v Janicare, Inc* , 294 S.C. 312, 316-17, 364 S E 2d 202, 205 (Ct. App. 1988) Respondents alleged such deceit in the Town’s attempt to annex here, and thus the 2011 letter is admissible to support these allegations. Likewise, the 2011 letter is admissible given the ambiguity, at best, in the 1994 Letter. *See Penton v J F Cleckley & Co* , 326 S.C 275, 280, 486 S E 2d 742, 745 (1997) (holding that where a contract is ambiguous, parol evidence is admissible to ascertain the true meaning and intent of the parties). For all of these reasons, the Court should disregard the Town’s arguments that the 2011 letter is improper parol evidence.¹⁰

¹⁰ In addition to these reasons, it is worth noting that the Town did not raise a legal objection to the introduction of this evidence at trial. *See* ROA 0162 – 63 (Tr. at 92 – 93)

C. The Trial Court Properly Concluded that the Town Engaged in Deceitful Conduct.

The Town next takes issue with the trial court's finding that the Town engaged in deception or misrepresentation in falsely claiming to have a petition for the 2004 annexation. *See* ROA 0017, 24 (Order at 4, 11) This argument is nothing more than a rehashing of the prior two points – that, in the Town's view, it had a proper petition for annexation and the 2011 Forest Service letter cannot be used to demonstrate otherwise. As such, the Court should disregard the argument for the reasons stated above

The Court should also reject this argument because the trial court properly concluded that the Town had engaged in deceitful conduct. Contrary to the Town's suggestion, the facts in the record adequately demonstrate this. It is undisputed that the Town was unable to obtain a proper annexation petition for the Ten-Foot Strip from the Forest Service. *See* ROA 0199 (Wallace Dep. at 40:9-11, Town admitting that "it turned out that they [Forest Service] would not give us anything in writing saying that they desired to be annexed"); ROA 0200 (Wallace Dep. at 42:12-16, same). It is also undisputed that, despite the failure to obtain an annexation request in writing, on May 10, 2004, the Town passed an ordinance stating that a "proper petition has been filed" for annexation and purporting to accept the petition. ROA 0017 (Order at 4); ROA 0188 (Ten-Foot Strip Annexation Ordinance) As the trial court concluded, "[a]lthough the Town represented to the public that it received a 100% petition from the Forest Service, it never did." ROA 0017 (Order at 4). *See also* ROA 0134, 137 (Tr. at 64, 67:2-5).

Thus, as the trial court concluded, the record clearly supports a finding that the Town engaged in deceitful conduct. This Court should not disturb the trial court's well-reasoned factual findings on appeal. *See Greer v Spartanburg Technical Coll*, 338 S.C. at 79, 524 S.E.2d at 858 (holding that the court's broad scope of review of factual findings in equity cases "does

not require this court to ignore the findings below when the trial court was in a better position to evaluate the credibility of the witnesses” and that the court “may affirm the trial court’s ruling upon any ground appearing in the record”).

IV. The 1994 Letter of the Forest Service Does Not Even Describe the Ten-Foot Strip of the National Forest.

The trial court also properly held that the 1994 Letter relied upon by the Town as a petition for annexation for the Ten-Foot Strip fails to include a sufficient description of property ROA 0025 (Order at 12). At trial, Respondents presented the expert testimony of Robert Lee Frank, a registered land surveyor in the state of South Carolina ROA 0108 – 10 (Tr. at 38:10 – 40:11). In his testimony, Mr. Frank explained that he was asked to examine the descriptions of properties included in the 1994 Letter, which the Town relied on as a petition for annexation for the Ten-Foot Strip. ROA 0110 – 11 (Tr. at 40:12 – 41:11). Mr. Frank testified that the description of properties in the 1994 Letter was not sufficient for carrying out the purported annexation of the Ten-Foot Strip for one primary reason – the 1994 Letter does not describe the Ten-Foot Strip of the Francis Marion. ROA 0111 – 12 (Tr. at 41:9 – 42:22).

Mr. Frank’s testimony was rebutted at trial by any expert testimony presented by the Town. Mr. Bill Wallace, the Town Administrator, testified regarding the descriptions contained in the 1994 Letter, yet he was not qualified as an expert at trial. Mr. Wallace testified that he believes the descriptions in the letter are clear, but even he conceded that the language in the 1994 Letter would not suffice for a legal transaction ROA 0121 (Tr. at 51:19 – 22).

This Court should affirm the trial court’s holding that the 1994 Letter did not include a sufficient description of the Ten-Foot Strip and that the annexation of the Ten-Foot Strip was *ultra vires* and *void ab initio* not only because the trial court had the opportunity to review the credibility of the witnesses at trial, but also for the additional reason that the Town failed to rebut

Mr. Frank's expert testimony with any expert testimony of its own. ROA 0025 (Order at 12).

See, supra, Greer v Spartanburg Technical Coll, 338 S.C. at 79, 524 S.E.2d at 858

V. This Court Should Affirm the Trial Court on the Additional Sustaining Ground that a Strip Annexation Cannot Satisfy the Requirements of Contiguity under South Carolina Law.

This Court should affirm the trial court's ruling on the additional sustaining ground that a strip annexation cannot satisfy the requirements of the statutory definition of contiguity in any event. *See I'On, LLC v Town of Mt Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S E 2d 716 (2000) (saying respondent, as prevailing party in the trial court, may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the trial court's ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the trial court). A narrow, ten-foot strip cannot provide the "continuous border" necessary for contiguity under South Carolina law *See* S.C. Code Ann § 5-3-305.

In 2000, the South Carolina General Assembly codified the definition of contiguous for purposes of annexation as follows.

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